IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE SEP 19 1989 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Deputy Clork CASE NO. 74.617

JOHN SAVARY DAME,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904)488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR **#0513253**

CONSTITUTIONS	
Article 111, Section 6, Florida Constitution	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN	SAVARY DAME,	:
	Petitioner,	:
VS .		:
STATE	E OF FLORIDA,	:
	Respondent.	:

CASE NO. 74,617

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Dame v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, **14** FLW **1963** (Fla. 1st DCA Aug. 22, 1989). The district court affirmed petitioner's convictions, but certified the question that has previously been certified in Blankenship and Burch, infra.

Petitioner was convicted at jury trial of conspiracy to sell LSD and a "merged" count of delivery to or use/hire of a juvenile and not guilty of possession with intent to sell. Before trial, petitioner moved to dismiss the merged delivery/ use/hire of a juvenile count, and the motion was denied.

The record on appeal will be referred to as "R" and the trial transcript as "T."

-1-

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged by a 16-count information filed November 5, 1987, and amended November 10, 11 counts of which related only to his codefendant, Ariel Esrig, with possession of a controlled substance (LSD), delivery to a juvenile, use or hire of a juvenile in sale or delivery, possession with intent to sell, and conspiracy to sell or deliver (R-5-7).

January 27, 1988, petitioner moved to dismiss two counts on double jeopardy grounds, because 1) the possession and possession with intent to sell counts both involved the exact same contraband, and 2) the delivery to a juvenile and use/hire of juvenile in sale/delivery both involved the exact same act (R-20-21). The motion was granted February 15. The court struck the possession count and merged Counts X and XI, concerning delivery to or use or hire of a juvenile (R-22).

March 22, petitioner moved to dismiss the use/hire of a juvenile count on the ground the statute was unconstitutional for violating the "one subject rule" (R-43). The motion was denied without argument or comment (R-65,T-5-6).

At trial March 23, petitioner moved for judgment of acquittal on possession with intent on the ground there was no proof of intent to sell, and on the use of a juvenile offense on the ground there was no proof petitioner knew Esrig's age. The court ruled it was a strict liability offense of which knowledge was not an element. The motions were denied (T-159-64,185-86). The court ruled Esrig's testimony was sufficient to send the conspiracy count to the jury (T-167).

-2-

The jury found petitioner guilty of conspiracy to sell and the merged delivery/use/hire of a juvenile count, and not guilty of possession with intent to sell (R-64).

April 18, petitioner was sentenced to one year in jail on the misdemeanor conspiracy count and placed on 15 years probation for the felony delivery/use/hire of juvenile count with a condition that he serve 12 months in jail (R-68-70). His presumptive guidelines sentence was nonstate prison (R-72).

Notice of appeal was timely filed April 19, 1988 (R-74).

The district court affirmed the convictions, but certified a question to the supreme court.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Gainesville police officer Dan Mesa received information that Ariel Esrig was selling LSD, and his source was John, "the Freak." Mesa chose Det. Rouse to buy LSD from Ariel because he looked like a college student. They intended for Rouse to buy a large amount, so Ariel would have to go to his source to get it (T-28-30). They put a bodybug transmitter on the undercover officer and record the serial numbers from the bills they use if they expect an immediate arrest.

Det. Rouse met Ariel September 29, 1987, "at a location where he and I were introduced." They discussed things they did in their lives and stuff like that. Rouse said, "yeah, I was going to party," and stuff like that. Ariel said, "well, I could probably set you up or do something for you or help you out." Ariel made a phone call and asked for someone called the Freak, then he said, come on, we'll go over and meet him (T-69-70).

They went to the Salty Dog Saloon, where Ariel brought a person to the car, whom Rouse identified as petitioner, John Dame. John did not have what Rouse was looking for. The only thing they had to sell was some marijuana. Rouse wasn't interested in that and did not buy any drugs that evening (T-70-72).

On each day, October 12, 14, 26 and 27, Rouse bought four or five hits of LSD from Ariel for about \$5 per hit. There was no mention of John Dame in connection with any of these transactions. On October 26, Rouse began to talk about purchasing larger quantities. Ariel said, that's great, man. No problem.

-4-

As much as you can move or get rid of, we can do it. On October 27, Rouse told Ariel he had washed his jeans, which destroyed the acid he had bought the day before, and he needed some more (T-34-39,72-77).

October 28, Rouse called Ariel. Ariel asked if he were still interested in a large order. Ariel said, he had to get with his guy anyway because he was running low. Ariel called him back a short time later, said he had spoken to this guy's girlfriend, and the deal would probably go down later that night or tomorrow. The price would be between \$3.50 and \$3.75 a hit (T-78).

Rouse picked up Ariel the next night. Ariel went to an apartment, then came back and said the guy was about to take a shower, and it would cost \$375. Rouse gave him the money. A short time later, Ariel came out with John. John gave directions to a place. When they arrived, John told them to stay in the car, and John entered a doorway which appeared to lead into a courtyard. John came back a short time later with a sheet of 100 hits of LSD. The sheet had little pigs on it, the same as what Rouse had purchased previously from Ariel. John passed the sheet to Ariel, who looked at it for a while, then handed it to Rouse (T-79-81).

A tape recording taken from the bodybug during this time was played for the jury but was not transcribed, and the court ruled it was unintelligible except in parts (T-96-133).

According to Rouse, John did not appear drunk, but did appear tired. John said he had fallen from a tree and had had

-5-

a rough day. Rouse saw no money change hands between Ariel and John. The only money which changed hands was between Rouse and Ariel (T-140-43).

After dropping off John, Rouse drove Ariel to a restaurant parking lot and arrested him. They found 73 hits on Ariel and \$150 in his pocket that matched the serial numbers they had recorded. Ariel's date of birth is May, 1970, which would make him 17 at the time (T-41-44). John was 34 (T-47). When he was arrested 40 minutes later, John had 50 hits of LSD, but none of the marked money (T-45,55-56).

Detective Drayton McDaniel arrested John at his house. John looked extremely tired and not too happy, but outside of that, McDaniel couldn't say whether he was intoxicated or not (T-150).

Ariel entered a plea the Monday before John's trial began on Wednesday. He initially refused to testify, then was granted use and derivative use immunity and ordered to testify (T-107-13). Defense counsel alleged a discovery violation on the ground Ariel was not listed as a witness and was permitted to depose him before trial continued (T-114-22). Defense counsel moved for mistrial and continuance, both of which were denied (T-119-27).

Ariel said he got the LSD from John. His birthday was May 18, 1970 (T-150-53). On cross, Ariel said he never told John his age. John did not want to go with him the day of this incident, because he was too tired and didn't have transportation. John did not mention he had been drinking, but he wanted

-6-

to shower because he had an accident at the tree service place and scraped up his back rather badly (T-153-56).

John Myers used to date Ariel's mother, and stayed at her house off and on. Myers had introduced Ariel and John about two months before this incident. John gives large parties, and Myers and Ariel's mother went to one. Ariel asked if he could come along, so they took Ariel and his brother, Aaron. There was a keg at the party, and John was concerned whether the kids were old enough to be there. Myers thought you could be in a bar in Florida at 19, but could not drink until you were 21. Myers told John Ariel was old enough. Myers said John's concern was actually for Ariel's brother who was 19, but looks younger. Myers did not consider himself Ariel's guardian, and did not know Ariel's age, but knew he was in school (T-170-73).

Sandra Wasdin, John's girlfriend, said the party was a benefit for battered women. John was concerned about Ariel's age because alcohol was being served. Myers said Ariel was at least 18 and it was OK to be at the party (T-174-77).

John said he met Ariel at one of his benefits, for Phoenix, a battered women's shelter. He asked Myers, what are those kids doing here, and Myers said, it's OK, they're of age, and introduced him to Ariel and Aaron. Ariel did not state his age, but said he was taking a pre-college course at Santa Fe Community College. John assumed if he was going to the community college, he must be 18 or 19 (T-178-79).

John works four 10-hour days per week, and the day of this incident was his last workday of the week. He climbs trees and

-7-

services power lines for the county. After work, he got a sixpack of tall-boy Bud beer and drank all six (T-180-81).

On cross, John admitted he sold 100 hits of LSD. In the car, he talked about how LSD is made, but he does not make it. The tape was too unintelligible and he was too intoxicated to remember exactly what he said. He did not know if Ariel got LSD from other sources (T-182-84).

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner was convicted of one count which "merged" two offenses that were initially charged separately. The merged count alleged the offenses of delivery to a juvenile, or the use or hire of a juvenile as an agent or employee in the sale or delivery of a controlled substance. The delivery portion of the merged count is a valid basis for conviction, but the use/ hire portion is invalid as the statute which created the offense violated the one-subject rule of the Florida Constitution.

A general verdict must be set aside if 1) the jury was instructed that it could rely on any of two or more independent grounds, and 2) one of those grounds is insufficient, because the verdict may have rested exclusively on the insufficient ground.

Chapter 87-243, Laws of Florida, contains 76 sections that relate to approximately 16 different subject areas. Since these 16 different subjects are not naturally or logically connected, chapter 87-243 violates article 111, section 6, of the Florida Constitution, which provides that "every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith." Petitioner was prosecuted under a portion of section 893.13(1)(c) which was amended by chapter 87-243. As the amendment was unconstitutional, his conviction is void and must be discharged.



V ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

A) BECAUSE THE STATUTE VIOLATED THE ONE-SUBJECT RULE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO DISMISS THE USE/HIRE OF JUVENILE COUNT; B) CONSEQUENTLY, THE GENERAL VERDICT ON THE "MERGED" OFFENSE MUST BE SET ASIDE BECAUSE IT COULD HAVE BEEN BASED ON THE OFFENSE WHICH SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISMISSED.

When several different crimes are presented in a single count, a general verdict makes it impossible to tell which crime the jury relied on for conviction. In <u>Stromberg v. Cali-</u> <u>fornia</u>, 283 U.S. 359, 51 S.Ct. 532, 75 L.Ed. 1117, 73 ALR 1484 (1931), the United States Supreme Court said:

> The verdict against the appellant was a general one. It did not specify the ground upon which it rested. As there were three purposes set forth in the statute, and the jury was instructed that their verdict might be given with respect to any one of them, independently considered, it is impossible to say under which clause of the statute the conviction was obtained. If any one of these clauses ... was invalid, it cannot be determined upon this record that the appellant was not convicted under that clause.

283 U.S. at 367-68. In Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 103

S.Ct. 2733, 77 L.Ed.2d 235 (1983), the court said:

One rule derived from the Stromberg case is that a general verdict must be set aside if the jury was instructed that it could rely on any of two or more independent grounds, and one of those grounds is insufficient, because the verdict may have rested exclusively on the insufficient ground.

462 U.S. at 881. In <u>Adjmi v. State</u>, 154 So.2d 812 (Fla. 1963), the Florida Supreme Court said:

No one can delve into the minds of the jurors and conclude with certainty that it was not one or both of the transactions which took place in Pennsylvania upon which the jury found the petitioners to be [guilty]."

<u>Id.</u> at 816.

In the instant case, petitioner was originally charged with separate counts of delivery to a juvenile, and use or hire of a juvenile as an agent or employee in the sale or delivery of a controlled substance. In response to a motion to dismiss one count on double jeopardy grounds, the court merged the two counts as "alternative methods of proving a single allegation" (R-22). Petitioner was convicted of the "merged" count. While the delivery to a juvenile portion of the merged count is a valid basis for conviction, the use or hire of **a** juvenile portion is an invalid basis for conviction, because the legislation which created the offense violated the one-subject rule of the Florida Constitution.

The instant case is not the first case addressing this issue to reach the supreme court. Although they reached different results, both the Second and Fourth Districts have previously certified the question. <u>State v. Burch</u>, 545 So.2d 279 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); <u>Blankenship v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 908 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

The offense of use or hire of a juvenile in the sale or delivery of a controlled substance was added to section 893.13(1)(c) by chapter 87-243, Laws of Florida. The trial court, and now this court, had the benefit of a Memorandum in

-11-

Support of Motion to Dismiss (R-46-63). Undersigned counsel has reviewed this memo and is of the opinion that it is a wellwritten and articulate presentation of the various arguments in support of the view that the laws affected by chapter 87-243 are unconstitutional. Accordingly, for his argument before the court here, petitioner incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss found in the record herein.

Contrary to the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below, the memorandum of law in support of the motion to dismiss amply demonstrates that chapter 87-243 violates the single-subject rule, and petitioner's conviction thereunder must be discharged.

VI CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, petitioner requests that this Court reverse the holding of the First District Court of Appeal and discharge his conviction of delivery to or use/hire of a juvenile.

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER Assistant Public Defender Leon County Courthouse Fourth Floor, North 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER