## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent relies on the Statement of the Case and Facts as set forth in the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal as an accurate portrayal of the facts and evidence adduced below. (Attached hereto and made a part hereof is an appendix containing a conformed copy of the lower court's opinion.)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue certified here is whether Florida Statute 893.13(1)(c) (1987) violates the state constitutional provision against inclusion of more than one subject in a legislative bill. This question is also pending in the Florida Supreme Court based upon the decisions of the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal upholding Chapter 87-243, Laws of Florida, against an identical attack. <u>Blankenship v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 908 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1989); <u>Burch v. State</u>, Case No. 73,826.

The state urges: first, that under the wide latitude of the legislature to comprehensively address criminal matters Section 87-243 does not violate the single subject rule; and second, assuming arguendo that Chapter 87-243 violated the single subject rule, the violation has been cured by the subsequent incorporation of its provisions into Florida Statutes.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

# CH, 87-243, LAWS OF FLORIDA, DOES NOT VIOLATE THE "SINGLE SUBJECT" RULE.

The First, Second and Fourth District Courts have held that Ch. 87-243, Laws of Florida does not violate Article 111, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Dame v. State</u>, 14 FLW 1963 (Fla. 1st DCA, August 22, 1989) (instant case); <u>Blankenship v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 908 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) (certified question to the Supreme Court); and, <u>State v. Burch</u>, 545 So.2d 279 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Respondent relies upon these authorities as well as the argument presented in its brief before this Court in <u>Burch</u>, (oral arguments held September 7, 1989, in case no. 73,826)

This Court has consistently held that "the subject of a law may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the law have natural and logical connection." <u>Smith</u> <u>v. Dept. of Insurance</u>, 507 So.2d 1080, 1087 (Fla. 1987) (upholding the 1986 Tort Reform and Insurance Act, Ch. 86-160, Laws of Florida, containing 70 Sections); <u>Chenowith v. Kemp</u>, 396 So.2d 1122, 1124 (Fla. 1981) (upholding ch. 76-260, Laws of Florida, covering a broad Range of statutory provisions dealing with medical malpractice and insurance); <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978) (upholding ch. 77-468, Laws of Florida, containing 45 section dealing with insurance and torts).

- 3 -

The enactment under consideration has a broad subject, e.g., "crime prevention and control", and includes matters which are connected in various ways with that subject; but, contrary to the appellant's assertions, that does not make the law unconstitutional.

The bill is supported at the outset not only by the presumption of constitutionality, State v. Canova, 94 So.2d 181, 184 (Fla. 1957) ("the presumption is in favor of constitutionality"), but also by the pronouncements of Florida courts over many decades that the Legislature has great latitude in deciding which matters are sufficiently related to be included in the same act, and that only in plain cases of complete absence of any rational relationship will the contents of a law be held to violate the one subject rule. See, e.g., Lee, supra., at 283 ("widely divergent rights and requirements can be included without challenge in statutes covering a single subject matter"); Smith v. Chase, 91 Fla. 1044, 109 So. 94, 97 (1926) ("A wide latitude must of necessity be accorded the Legislature in its enactments of law"). Furthermore, in In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 509 So.2d 292, 313 (Fla. 1987), this Court stated that "the fact that the scope of a legislative enactment is broad and comprehensive is not fatal under the single subject rule as long as the matters included in the enactment have a natural or logical connection." And, it is significant that this Court has used absolute terms when finding that a particular enactment has

violated the "single subject" rule. See, e.g., Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808, 809 (Fla. 1984) ("no cogent relationship); Colonial Investment Co. v. Nolan, 100 Fla. 1349, 131 So. 178, 181 (1930) ["nothing in common between the two (subjects)"] (emphasis supplied). All that is necessary is that the several matters contained within the subject tend to make effective or promote the purpose of the legislation, or to be necessary or advisable as a side-effect of the legislation. E.g.,

> Provisions that are necessary incidents to, or that <u>tend</u> to make effective or to promote, the object and purpose of the legislation that is included in the subject expressed in the title of the act, may be regarded as matter properly connected with the subject of the act...

<u>Smith v. Chase</u>, <u>supra.</u>, 109 So. 94, 96-97 (Fla. 1926). (Emphasis supplied).

Ch. 87-243, Laws of Florida, which is the subject of the instant appeal, contains 76 sections, all of which focus upon combating the ever increasing crime rate in this State, and which, therefore, "have natural and logical connection" pursuant to <u>Smith v. Dept. of Insurance, Chenowith v. Kemp</u>, and <u>State v. Lee</u>, <u>supra.</u>; and, at the very least, tend to promote the purpose of the legislation as expressed in its title, pursuant to <u>Smith</u> v. Chase, supra.

### ISSUE II

ANY CONSTITUTIONAL DEFECTS IN CH. 87-243, LAWS OF FLORIDA HAVE BEEN CURED BY THE ENACTMENT OF SECTION 1, CHAPTER 87-83, LAWS OF FLORIDA AND SECTION 1, CHAPTER 89-64, LAWS OF FLORIDA.

The state's brief to the court on Burch v. State, case no. orally argued on 7 September 1989, pointed out that any 73.826. single subject violation in the enactment of Chapter 87-243 would be prospectively cured by the (then) anticipated reenactment of its statutory provisions. At oral argument, it appeared that the import of this argument was not fully apparent. Consequently, the state's position will be expanded and restated to make the import of the argument clear. The state's position assumes for the purpose of argument that Chapter 87-243 is found to contain more than one subject. Based on this assumption, the state argues in two prongs. First, the enactment of Chapter 87-83, Laws of Florida, incorporating Chapter 87-243 into the biennial "1987 Florida Statutes" as prima facie evidence of the law, cures or obviates any single subject challenge as of the effective date Second, alternatively, assuming that the of Chapter 87-83. preceding argument is rejected, the enactment of Chapter 89-64, Laws of Florida, which repeals Chapter 87-243, and other laws enacted during regular and special sessions of the 1987 legislature, and adopts the Florida Statutes 1987 as the official law of the state under "Florida Statutes statute 1989" definitively cures any single subject problems in Chapter 87-243 as of the effective date of Chapter 89-64, 16 June 1989.

- 6 -

In propounding these arguments, the state relies on three rules of appellate review. First, that the decision below has a presumption of correctness and the appellant has the burden of demonstrating error. <u>Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee</u>, 377 So.2d 1150, 1152 (Fla. 1979). Second, that the court below should be affirmed even though based on erroneous reasoning if the decision is supported by an alternate theory. <u>Id</u>. Third, disposition of a case on appeal should be made in accordance with the law in effect at the time of appellate decision. <u>State v. Lavazzoli</u>, 434 So.2d 321, 323 (Fla. 1983).

Section 11.147, Florida Statutes (1987) provides for a Joint Legislative Management Committee. One of the functions of this joint committee under Section 11.148(21) is to maintain under its auspices a permanent and continuous statutory revision plan in the manner provided in Sections 11.242-11.246, Florida Statutes. The powers, duties and functions of the joint committee, as they relate to statutory revisions include continuous revisions of Florida Statutes and the incorporation therein of new laws enacted by the legislature. **§** 11.242. Among the specific duties is that of ensuring that the current biennial edition of Florida Statutes contains the law of a general nature enacted at the current session of the legislature and directed to be embodied in said edition. Section 11.242(4)(a). The legislature exercises its will and directs the joint committee by biennially enacting odd-year revisions to Sections 11.2421, 11.2422, 11.2424, and 11.2425. As amended by Chapter 87-83, Section 11.2421, Florida Statutes (1987) incorporates Chapter 87-243 into official Florida Statutes. The incorporated provisions of Ch. 87-243 are prima facie evidence of the law. There is no conflict between the statutory section at issue here, Section 893.13(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1987), and section four, Chapter 87-243, Laws of Florida. Because of the lack of conflict between the enrolled act, Chapter 87-243 and the prima facie statement of the law in Florida Statutes (1987), the state urges that Chapter 87-83 cures any single subject problems from the date of its enactment.

In this connection, properly applied, the single subject provision of article III, section 6 furnishes ground for a declaratory judgment challenge to criminal laws prior to their enforcement. A single subject challenge should not be a vehicle for after-the-fact challenges to criminal charges alleging violations of Florida Statutes when the defendant has been placed on notice prior to commission of the violation of criminal statute. A defendant so charged retains all the challenges to the constitutionality of the statute which are individual to him and which are prejudicial to him. See petitioner Burch's brief on the merits. Appellant is charged with violation of Section 893.13(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1987). His claim that portions of Chapter 87-243 address other criminal offenses with which he is not charged fails to show any prejudice from the alleged violation of the single subject rule. In order to sustain his claim, appellant should be required to show prejudicial error and error, if any, should be subject to harmless error analysis. Section 924.33, Florida Statutes (1987).

In the event the preceding argument is rejected, the state next urges that the reenactment and adoption of Chapter 87-243 by Chapter 89-64 as the official statutory law of Florida and the repeal of Chapter 87-243 cures and obviates any single subject challenges. There is on-point case law so holding. In <u>State</u> v.Combs, 388 So.2d 1029 (Fla. 1980), this Court held:

> In Santos v. State, 380 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1980), we held that "article 111, section 6, does not require sections of the Florida Statutes to conform to the single subject requirement. The requirement applies to 'laws' in the sense of acts of the legislature." Id. at 1285. Section 777.04 was enacted as chapter 74-383, Laws of Florida, and adopted or re-enacted in chapter 77-266, Laws of Florida. Article III, section 6 of our constitution applied only to chapter 74-383, Laws of Florida, and only so long as it remained a "law." Once re-enacted as a portion of the Florida Statutes it was not subject to challenge under article III, section 6. There have been no subsequent pertinent amendments to justify a challenge at this point.

**Combs**, 388 So.2d at 1030-31. Under this holding, the adopted and reenacted provisions of Chapter 87-243 are valid as of the effective date of Chapter 89-64 but are invalid for the previous period. Cf. <u>Thompson v. Intercounty Tel. & Tel. Co.</u>, 62 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1952) (Defect in title of act cured by reenactment of Florida Statute is cured from time of reenactment but is not valid theretofore).

Respondent prays this Honorable Court approve the decision of the lower court.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

mg by K JAMES W. ROGERS

Bureau Chief Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #325791

004

A. E. (NED) POOSER, IV Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #183336

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT